JMinutes of the Western Weber County Planning Commission held on May 10, 2016, in the Weber County Commission Break out Room, 2380 Washington Blvd., Ogden UT

Members Present:	Mark Whaley, Chairman; Jannette Borklund, Wayne Andreotti, Lance Greenwell, Roger Heslop, John Parke
Member Excused:	Michael Slater
Staff Present:	Rick Grover, Planning Director; Scott Mendoza, Assistant Planning Director; Ronda Kippen, Principal
	Planner; Ben Hatfield, Planner; Chris Crockett, Legal Counsel; Sherri Sillitoe, Secretary

*Pledge of Allegiance *Roll Call

Commissioner Borklund stated that she told her neighbor the zone of the property of the agenda item in her area, and that it could not have tiny lots. She also told him the time and place of the meeting. She then told him that she couldn't say anything else about the meeting. The members decided that she could participate in the meeting.

1. Administrative Items

1.1. CUP 2016-08 Consideration and action for a conditional use permit for an Agri-Tourism operation identified at the Cold Springs Trout Farm located at 2284 Fruitland Drive, in the Agriculture (A-1) Zone. (Neal Ward and Carrie L. Barker, Applicants; Tarah Michelle Barker, Authorized Representative)

Rick Grover indicated that notice was not required and was done as a courtesy.

Ronda Kippen indicated that this property is located in a little island in the North Ogden area but it is under Weber County's jurisdiction. It has been in existence since the early 1900's. It was purchased in 1907 by Lyman Barker. In 1924 they started implementing some of the cement ponds for the trout. Tarah Barker is the authorized agent on this application. This is a pre-existing operation that pre-dated the zoning ordinances so there was no reason for them to come to the county requesting approval of a trout farm. They have now come forward requesting some of the uses that are in the new Agri-Tourism Ordinance. Staff told them to dream big and think about the uses that they would like to have there in the future. It is a well-loved destination throughout Northern Utah; it is family-owned, family-loved and family-friendly. They would like to convert one of the existing structures into a gift shop.

The proposed use will be beneficial to the owner as well as the residents of Weber County by allowing the owner to continue utilizing the farm as it has been historically operated and allow for some additional commercial and education abilities to be implemented while promoting the preservation of agricultural property. They may produce vegetables in their garden to sell as well in the future. Last year they obtained a land use permit for a greenhouse and they grow vegetables, fruits, etc. They want to have a harvest market stand and sell their vegetables, etc. that they yield on site. They have a conditional use for a corn maze as well.

There is a single family dwelling and agriculture related buildings and areas. Their immediate plans are to transition the existing building to a gift shop, sell produce, tear down two structures and construct a conference center type building that could be used for educational classes and tours, food concessions, gift shop and other uses. It is an allowed use in the Agri-Tourism Zone. They have adequate paved parking. There is a single family dwelling on site as well as some outbuildings that are agriculturally related. They are promoting a working farm on this site.

The hours of operation are The Cold Water Trout Farm is open to the public during the hours of 9:00 am - 8:00 pm Monday through Saturday and there is not a proposed changed to the hours of use at the facility. The applicants will have to come into the office for a special permit when they would like to have a corn maze there.

The applicants will have to comply with the following:

The Planning Division recommends approval of file# CUP 2016-08, a conditional use permit for an agri-tourism operation identified as the Cold Water Trout Farm located at 2284 Fruitland Drive North Ogden, UT. This recommendation for approval is subject to all review agency requirements and with the following conditions:

A farm stay and a commercial development agreement will be executed and recorded prior to any construction of any structure intended for the purpose of accommodating non-agricultural uses, requirements of the Weber County Building Inspection Division, requirements and recommendations of the Weber Fire District, requirements of the Weber County Engineering Division, and requirements of the Weber County Health Department.

This recommendation is based on the following findings:

- 1. The proposed use conforms to the West Central Weber County.
- 2. The proposed use will protect and preserve agricultural property in Weber County.
- 3. The proposed use, if conditions are imposed, will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare.
- 4. The proposed use, if conditions are imposed, will comply with applicable County ordinances.

5. The proposed use will not deteriorate the environment of the general area so as to negatively impact surrounding properties and uses.

Commissioner Borklund asked if they want to identify the items as being approved in any motion. Ronda Kippen stated that in a motion they could list that they are approving the Agri-Tourism operations as identified in the staff report would be sufficient. Every single use with the exception of the Farm Open air market is recorded within the small farm stay development agreement. They do not need to do all the uses now, but the development agreement will include the uses and will be recorded against all three parcels.

Neal Barker indicated that staff gave a fantastic presentation and he appreciates the county for their support. Commissioner Andreotti indicated that he appreciates that Mr. Barker has decided to participate in the Agri-Tourism Ordinance and agri-tourism in Weber County. Mr. Barker indicated that he believes agri-tourism this is the key to keeping them around for many years to come.

Commissioner Heslop indicated that at the National APA Conference he saw a similar operation as this proposal and he could give him some additional ideas.

MOTION: Commissioner Heslop moved to approve the CUP 2016-08. Consideration and action for a conditional use permit for an Agri-Tourism operation identified at the Cold Springs Trout Farm located at 2284 Fruitland Drive, in the Agriculture (A-1) Zone. (Neal Ward and Carrie L. Barker, Applicants; Tarah Michelle Barker, Authorized Representative) subject to the staff report recommendations based on the findings listed in the staff report. Commissioner Borklund seconded the motion. The Motion carried by a unanimous vote with Commissioners Borklund, Andreotti, Greenwell, Heslop, Parke and Chair Whaley voting aye.

1.1. SPE 2016-02: Discussion and action on a conceptual sketch plan endorsement request for the Favero's Legacy Cluster Subdivision located at 3790 W. 2200 S in the Agricultural (A-1) Zone (Robert Favero, Applicant)

Ronda Kippen indicated that this was part of a larger sketch plan, but he has had to separate it and do a separate cluster. This cluster did not meet the previously approved cluster, and staff felt that they should bring it back for a sketch plan endorsement. The applicant has requested bonus density based on the following qualifying criteria: 10% bonus for meeting the purpose and intent of the cluster subdivision and a 15% bonus density based upon adding 0.055 acres of open space to be used as a community garden for an overall 25% bonus density.

Ronda Kippen stated that they have four open space parcels which are all over an acre so that they can be individually owned. There is a 25 x 95 community garden and it would need to be owned by the Home Owners Association and have CC&R's. Mr. Favero does not want an HOA so he will need an open space management plan for that community garden easement. The lot width and sizes all meet the design standards listed in the Cluster Subdivision Ordinance. One lot can be below the 15,000 sq. ft. because it is adjacent from agriculture property that has not been developed.

Commissioner Borklund asked if the size of the community garden would be adequate. Ronda Kippen indicated that the code states that the county may at its discretion allow a 15% bonus density for a community garden. It does not list any sizes of how big the garden has to be. Commissioner Borklund stated that if it is too big it could go to weeds unless properly managed and if it is too small, nobody would use it; they would have to find a balance. Ronda Kippen indicated that there has to be a good open space management plan.

Robert Favero indicated that some of the original plan might go forward in the future. He had purchased this property in order to have access to 2200 S. and he has held on to it, but now he wants to sell it. The original subject was a cluster subdivision and it had a one acre community garden as part of it. They want to keep the cluster idea and have the garden. They can enlarge the garden in the future. They plan to put grow boxes there so it just won't be open space. There is secondary water there and it will be easier to take care of. Almost half of the eight acres is in open space. If there are easements needed, they could provide them. The idea was that they could sell the lots at an affordable price and someone may want the extra ground.

MOTION: Commissioner Borklund moved to give conceptual approval based on the standards that it meets the cluster subdivision standards of the ordinance. Commissioner Greenwell seconded the motion. The Motion carried by a unanimous vote with Commissioners Borklund, Andreotti, Greenwell, Heslop, Parke and Chair Whaley voting aye. Motion Carried (6-0).

1.2. AE 2016-01: Consideration and action on an access exception to use a private right-of-way (ROW) as the primary access for 6 Lots in the Hidden Oaks Subdivision located at a 6260 S 2125 E (Jared Circle) in the Residential Estates (RE-15) Zone (Somerset Land LLC, Applicant; Sharon Clark, Authorized Representative)

Ben Hatfield indicated that the property is located in the Residential Estates RE-15 Zone and the site is 3.28 acres. The RE-15 Zone requires single family dwellings to be on lots no less than 15,000 square feet. The applicant has provided a narrative and concepts of the project.

The location of the proposed private R.O.W. is from a 29 foot gap that was left available for access when the subdivision creating Jared Circle was platted in 1992. In 2004, this property received a variance from the Board of Adjustment to allow for a right of way (R.O.W.) access for two lots. This approval was based the unique boundary conditions of the property which is surrounded by developed lots with only a 25 foot gap and frontage on Highway 89. As Highway 89 is a divided state highway, Utah Department of Transportation would not grant access due to traffic safety concerns. The approval was conditioned upon the private R.O.W. meeting at the time of subdivision, the design standards that were in place at the time.

Lot 1R in the Hidden Oaks Subdivision was a restricted lot and Utah Geological Survey cited that there were some steep slopes and soils but the review of the house plans would provide the support for one residence at the bottom where it was not so steep. A Geologic and Geotechnical report was submitted and reviewed by the county and the Utah Geologic Survey citing some concerns as to the slope and soils, but that with a review of the house plans the property would support one residence.

At the time of subdivision, the private R.O.W. will be required to meet:

- 1. All design, safety, and lot/parcel standards listed in Title 108 Chapter 7 Section 29 of the Weber County Land Use Code.
- 2. All recommendations made by applicable review agencies, approved plans, and reports.
- 3. A maintenance plan for the private R.O.W. must be put in place.

In addition to these standards, the request is required to comply with the criteria and conditions listed in Section 31, which is specific to access by a private R.O.W. These standards are listed below under "Summary of Planning Division Considerations." Approval of the private R.O.W. as the primary access does not act as approval of the future consideration of a subdivision plat.

Staff's recommendation is based on a number of conditions of approval. Prior to final subdivision approval, the applicants must also sign an agreement to pay a proportionate amount of the costs associated with developing a street if, at any time in the future, the County deems it necessary to have the landowner replace the private R.O.W. with a street that would serve as a required access to additional lots.

Meeting applicable review agency requirements from the Weber County Engineering Division, A Natural Hazards and Hillside Review approval, installation of the proposed improvements, requirements of the Weber Fire District, completing and recording the subdivision, meeting the design criteria listed in Sec. 108-7-29 Access Easement Standards, and a cost and maintenance plan put in place for the approved care of private R.O.W.

Staff recommends approval of a private R.O.W. as the primary access for the proposed six lots. The recommendation is subject to the applicant meeting the conditions of approval in this staff report and any other conditions required by the Planning Commission. This recommendation is based on the following findings:

- This property has boundary conditions which limits typical access requirements in a unique way and is undesirable as the other property surrounding the site has been developed and access from Highway 89 is not approved from UDOT. It is therefore impractical for a full street or cul-de-sac to be required at this location.
- Due to the unique topography, steepness, and width construction of a county road it is impractical to provide a county road.

Commissioner Borklund asked if they should add that there will be no parking along the length of the right of way and that staff cannot approve the six lots. Ben Hatfield indicated that he believes that would be wise. Typically access exceptions can be approved administratively and approved by the Administrative staff however as this access exception is for consideration of six lots and has hillside review concerns, it was determined that the Planning Commission hear the proposal. It should be moved and stated that the Planning Commission reviewed the subdivision and the proposed improvements and feel that they can be adequately addressed. The design may not be a final improvement plan but at least a feasible design.

The members asked Ben Hatfield to review the applicable review criteria for the benefit of the audience. Mr. Hatfield reviewed the criteria at this time and indicated that the criteria are that they evaluate the lot that is being proposed and they would continue to support agricultural as a use of the property.

Commissioner Heslop asked if the ROW had been approved with prior plans that have come in, and Ben Hatfield replied yes and referred to the 2005 prior design. Those improvements did not go in. The width of the ROW was 29 ft. at the entrance which tapers down to 25 ft.

Donald Fulton indicated that he is partners with Sharon Jean-Clarke and they represent Somerset Lands which are the owners of record. Mr. Fulton indicated that he resides in Sandy.

Sarah Wichern, 6261 S 2125 E, stated that she lives across the street from the property in question. She has a Master's Degree in Civil Engineering and is a licensed Engineer in the State of California. Her concerns are the boundary conditions. The lots in her area are between 1/3 acres and ½ acre and the buildable part is very steep. There is at the very least one acre that is buildable. She doesn't believe that it is reasonable or feasible to sell the property with the feasibility of having six buildable lots.

Kimberly Fidler, 6266 S 2125 E, stated her home is adjacent to the passageway. Her biggest concern is that she moved into a cul-de-sac. She knew that the land behind them would be one building lot. By approving this, it would open it up to be a roadway with many cars and trips being made over that road way per day. Because her property is right up against that, she is concerned that it would encroach upon her property with the fire hydrant and she is concerned with the safety and privacy. She is concerned with development of that level.

Larry Garrett, 6254 S 2125 E, indicated that there are many children in the area along the road and cul-de-sac. The property is very steep. This is the third meeting he has been to with people trying to build on this property. He believes it is impractical to put six houses there.

Micah Kronmiller, who owns the lot on the east corner just above the applicant's property, stated that his concern is that the people on the east side of the ravine area; if land were to be taken away on that side of the ravine, he would be concerned that they would lose more land up above. They already have to replace soil that washes away from his land up above. If they have to cut the steep hill back even further, it would pose more problems to his land up on top of the ravine.

Brad Fidler, 6266 S 2125 E, stated that he pulled up a map and indicated that this property is in a landslide zone. He would be concerned that people would want to build a single-family home in a landslide zone.

Kevin Black, 6280 S 2125 E, stated that he lives two houses down from the easement. His concern is that to retain the hillside, they would have to dig out the hillside and then retain that. The costs involved in and to secure the hillside would be astronomical. He believes it goes down to 20-25 ft. The current road is more than the 25 ft. easement. Their children sled down the slope and it is a concern. The hillside, the slope and the road on the other side would have to be retained and maintained. It is a great concern to him. In fairness to the property owner, they would have to put in tremendous cost to retain and maintain the area.

Chair Whaley said that the role of the Planning Commission, generally speaking, is to follow their staff recommendations. This application is for an access exception. It is not a final approval of a subdivision.

Chris Crockett indicated that the question presented tonight is really quite narrow. Given the topography of the property, whatever happens tonight, the land will still have to go through the subdivision process, a hillside review, etc.

Chair Whaley stated as this proceeds, the process will continue to move forward when the subdivision process starts.

Kimberly Fidler sated that it was her understanding that the ROW was approved for one dwelling and tonight's decision is to allow more than one dwelling in the ROW. They all believe that right now they have the opportunity to stop what has happened for years. They are trying to show that it is not reasonable to allow more than one dwelling. She believes they are talking about the narrow scope. They all bought their homes when this private road had access for only one dwelling. To change that, she believes it is not reasonable to look at the property and envision more than one dwelling. She believes stopping it where it starts would be reasonable. There are concerns that it is not feasible.

Commissioner Greenwell indicated that it is yet to be determined whether it is right and feasible. He believes that what they are doing tonight would send it to the County Engineer to determine that. Commissioner Andreotti indicated that he believes it needs to follow the zoning rules and a subdivision application is not on the agenda tonight. The Planning Commission needs to follow the zoning rules and follow their process.

Brad Fidler asked if it would be feasible for someone to travel down the road where there is only one outlet. The roadway width is too narrow and is not wide enough to accommodate traffic to and from six homes. Chris Crockett believes that these are legitimate questions and he believes that information will come out after the experts review the information. As to whether to approve it tonight or not, it would have to be within the limits of the County Ordinance statute.

Commissioner Parke indicated that the approval isn't tied to a number. Right now, it is for access to one lot.

Rick Grover stated that this item could have been approved administratively because they wanted to notify the residents and make sure that they were aware. He has visited the site and also has concerns, but anyone has the right to make application and go through the process under the zoning rules to prove that the property can be developed with six lots. When the process gets to the subdivision level, the neighbors would all be notified. The access exception does not give any approval to any number of lots. They have approval for one restricted lot. UDOT will not give another access to that area, but there are more hoops that would have to be gone through, before it gets to subdivision approval.

Larry Garret asked if there is not access granted to the lot there. Rick Grover indicated that there is already access approved for one lot. If he meets the requirements, they can put one home there on a restricted lot. Ronda Kippen indicated that initially, it was approved for one flag lot. The code allows for the access exception with strict criteria. If it is fewer than five lots, the road has to be so much width. This is the first time they have been approved for an access exception.

Commissioner Borklund asked if the fire department had looked at it for being more than one lot. Ben Hatfield indicated that they were aware of the project and indicated that it would have to meet their standards, but they haven't seen an actual design to review yet. They would be concerned with the steepness, the clearance, the width of the road, the weight capacity, the length etc.

In answer to a question by Commissioner Parke, Commissioner Borklund stated that they would be giving false security to the owners saying that it could be developed into more than one lot when maybe it can't; they don't know that, they do not have enough information to say if it meets the standards. Chris Crockett indicated that they do not have the technical information right now to say what could happen right there.

Commissioner Borklund indicated that the ordinance they are looking at tonight would be based on whether it is impossible or impractical to extend any other access to that property. Chris Crockett read LUC 108-7-31 as shown in the meeting packets at this time.

Kimberly Fidler stated that her question would be is it practical or feasible to allow more than one homes worth of traffic into a cul-de-sac. Is there a way to make their motion so that it is contingent upon approving the questions that they have so that it is not falsely presented (an access that isn't really accessible)? Chair Whaley stated that this is a valid comment and they had the discussion earlier regarding parking. He wants to make sure they are focusing on what is on the table before them.

Ronda Kippen stated that access exceptions expire eighteen months after the date of approval of the Land Use authority. Land Use Code Title 108-7-29.4 states that the subdivision would have to be completed and recorded 18 months from the date of approval of the exception. Commissioner Heslop asked if that would mean the prior right of way has expired, and Ms. Kippen replied, no because it is recorded and platted. Chris Crockett stated that there is a difference between a right of way and an access exception.

Commissioner Borklund looked at the subdivision ordinance regarding street grades. Does the 15% percent requirement for a street apply to this? Ben Hatfield replied no; it is considered a private driveway. There is not a standard as far as the grade of a driveway. In this case, the access would have to be less than 15%. As Lot 1 is platted, they would have water and sewer provided from Uintah Highlands Water and Sewer District from the cul-de-sac and it would be a lift station that would pump the water up to the service main.

Commissioner Borklund asked staff to clarify that the applicants are asking for the width entire 25 ft. length. Ben Hatfield replied yes. Commissioner Borklund also asked staff to clarify that one of the conditions they are asking for is that there be no parking along the right of way. She believes this should be part of a motion.

Commissioner Parke asked staff to clarify that based on what they have heard tonight, there is no way they could deny the access exception tonight. Ben Hatfield indicated that the staff report lists all the criteria and standards that the application would have to meet.

Commissioner Borklund stated that the narrowness and the steepness is still a concern to her. Commissioner Parke agreed. She believes they can't say that they can have approval for more than one lot knowing what the property looks like. Rick Grover stated that is why they have to rely on the professionals to show that and while they all look at it and wonders how it is going to work, they still have the ability to hire a professional to show how it can and to prove to them how it can. Commissioner Parke indicated that what they are saying whether it is six or 20 lots, that they don't know that the road that could be constructed in there would be adequate or if it would meet the county's requirements for a street.

Rick Grover indicated that that is what would be addressed at the time of subdivision approval.

Commissioner Borklund stated that if Rick Grover did not feel comfortable approving it, why shouldn't they have to be concerned? Rick Grover stated that he wanted the residents to be able to voice their concerns before it reached the subdivision level. He didn't want anything to happen behind closed doors and he wanted everything out in the open.

Chair Whaley indicated that this is a useful and productive public hearing for them to be able to see what the concerns are. He understands that the owner has the right to develop his property within the county regulations. This access exception is a stepping stone that the applicant has to pass in order to get all the other issues discussed during a subdivision approval process. Chris Crockett indicated that there will be questions that will have to be answered.

Larry Garrett indicated that in his common mind it seems like to him they are putting the cart before the horse. It seems like they are granting access without knowing that the access could be feasible or practical.

Brad Fidler asked the minimum width that a multi-lot subdivision area would need to have for safety concerns. Ben Hatfield indicated that the minimum ROW width is 16 ft. with a travel surface of 12 ft. Once you exceed 5 lots or exceed a certain distance from the roadway, the Fire Marshal states that it be 20 ft. Ronda Kippen referred to LUC Title 108-7-29.1b and c. Ben Hatfield stated that a 50 ft. ROW would probably have 24 ft. width of asphalt and includes curb, gutter and sidewalk and sometimes it has been reduced to 20 ft. in PRUD's. This is more like a driveway that would serve five or more residences.

Chris Crockett stated that the ability to ask the question for subdivision preliminary approval, the code provides the criteria that a ROW has to meet. It could be a big financial burden to a developer to go through the entire subdivision process only to find out that it could not have adequate access. This is a question or way that can be answered before it gets to the subdivision level. Ronda Kippen replied that Mr. Crockett is correct. The subdivision code requires that they answer certain criteria and questions.

Donald Fulton stated that they are only asking for an access exception to the property. It doesn't entitle them to develop it or any subdivisions. In order to develop into a subdivision, it would have to meet the subdivision code and be reviewed by the reviewing agencies.

Commissioner Parke stated that it is their duty to support the code, not the staff's recommendation. Based on the criteria presented, they have to approve the access exception today even though it is contrary to what they want to see done. There really isn't a question to debate. Chair Whaley indicated that they want the community to be aware of the process which is why it was placed on the agenda. Commissioner Borklund stated that they don't know how steep the property is and how steep the road is going to be. Commissioner Heslop stated that the question is can they get to the property to determine that.

Sarah Wichern asked if there was anything in the code that prevents people from changing the intended use of the property or that protects the neighbors from so much traffic going through a cul-de-sac. Rick Grover indicated that if there are permitted uses in the zone in which a property is located and someone wanted to have a different use, then the new use as a permitted use in the zone in which their property is located it would be approved. Codes change all the time, so it would depend on the code regulations at the time of application.

Commissioner Borklund stated that they would have to meet setback requirements also, and she believes it will be tricky. If they approve the item the way it is listed on the agenda, it is confusing. Sarah Wichern stated that she believes that the reason they are asking for six lots is that they are asking for 29 feet, which puts them in the code requirement of if it is over five lots, it would require 20 ft. road width. In answer to Chair Whaley who asked that staff clarify the code regarding road width improvements, Ronda Kippen stated that with fewer than five lots, 16 ft. is allowed and for over five lots, 20 ft. is required. There is no limit on the number of lots.

Kimberly Fidler stated that it does not make sense to her that the planning commission has to approve an access exception. If you are asking for an exception, it is an exception; the rules have already been established. She appreciates the notice given so that they could be here. She feels like there was a reason why the planning commission wanted to hear their concerns, but she feels like they don't want to approve this so she is unclear as to why they have to approve it. Chris Crockett indicated that they have to answer the question based upon how it was asked; why their concerns exceed the narrow scope of that question. Commissioner Borklund indicated that they do not have to say it is for more than one lot. Chris Crockett indicated that legally they are not approving six lots no matter what they do; that question has not been asked of them.

MOTION: Commissioner Borklund moved that they recommend approval for the private right of way for primary access for a one-lot subdivision based upon the findings that there is a typical access requirement that only allows a unique way and is undesirable for other access to the property and limited to one lot with the criteria 1b and 2b. Commissioner Parke seconded the motion.

DISCUSSION:

Chair Whaley asked Legal Counsel if he had a question. Chris Crockett said the purpose for the question and for this application is so that they can ask the question to subdivide the property of six lots. They already have the access for one lot. He believed that it's platted and was approved, so they wouldn't be approving the subdivision; it's already there. Commissioner Parke said they would be approving a wider access, is that's what they are doing with one lot? Mr. Crockett said they have to ask if their motion is going to allow the applicant to proceed forward and present a subdivision application. Commissioner Borklund said that was her motion. Chair Whaley asked Commissioner Borklund to restate her motion with offset that she was going to talk about parking or does she want to add that in there or just leave it out. Commissioner Borklund replied yes, she would like to include that in the motion.

Commissioner Borklund clarified her motion and stated that they would recommend approval for the private right of way for primary access for a one-lot subdivision based on the findings that there is a typical access requirement that only allows a unique way and is undesirable for other access to the property and limited to one lot. It is subject to meeting all the recommendations of the County Engineering Department, Hillside Review approvals, installation of the required improvements, requirements of the Fire District, and that no parking would be allowed along the access road.

Chair Whaley asked the commissioners if they had a clear understanding of what the motion is. Commissioner Andreotti said that he had a clear understanding as well as Commissioners Heslop and Greenwell.

Chris Crockett indicated that they are not approving a one-lot subdivision; that is already platted.

Vote: A vote was taken with Commissioners Borklund, Andreotti, Greenwell, Parke, and Chair Whaley voting aye. Motion Carried (5-0).

2. Public Comment for Items not on the Agenda

Brent Fowers, 4393 W. 4300 S., Ogden UT 84401, stated that he has come before this Planning Commission. They do not have any parks in the area. They would like to set up a Park District in that area and then instead of having smaller parks there, then they could turn any money received into land that they could set aside for a larger park.

Rick Grover indicated that they are meeting with the West Warren Park District to begin discussions regarding increasing their Park District in the near future. They are starting a grass roots dialogue as has happened in the past but died or fizzled. Kathy Verniew stated that she and Brent Fowers would also like to attend the park district expansion meetings.

Brent Fowers asked if it was legal to transfer those rights from a smaller open space park area in a cluster subdivision to the district. Rick Grover stated that they first start with the General Plan to determine if and where they would like parks. Right now, they don't have a park district to implement that. They do have private businesses that donated to the West Warren Park District.

Commissioner Heslop indicated that in the General Plan, the only area designated for a park is in the West Weber, West Warren, Taylor area that is behind West Weber Elementary School.

Rick Grover indicated that t RMHP Plan will start the discussion but it will not be part of the General Plan yet. There have not been funds set aside yet for the General Plan update. Chair Whaley asked that they be apprised of any park expansion or designation meetings.

Commissioner Parke asked to be excused at 6:56 p.m.

1.4. DISCUSSION: PRUD Code related to Bonus Density – Scott Mendoza

Today the county may approve up to a 50% bonus. In the County's PRUD Code, Title 108 Chapter 5, it is rare that developers would present a PRUD to them because there is a lot of upfront cost. For a PRUD, an applicant would have to come before the Planning Commission with landscape plans, elevations for the housing types, the uses that are in a PRUD, open space, materials, Architectural styles, and colors, etc. The trade-off is a relaxation of the rules. The Planning Commission would be able to get a feel of the type of community the proposal would bring. The question he would like to ask tonight is if they would ever consider taking what is in the PRUD Code (a 10% bonus max potential) and increasing that bonus potential. If they like the development pattern in the PRUD, the 10% bonus is not much of an incentive. If the preservation that it can provide, whether it is agriculture or just open space, the PRUD Code can also offer these types of things, but 10% is not much of an incentive. A PRUD development is more detailed.

In answer to a question by Chair Whaley, Mr. Mendoza stated that a cluster subdivision requires a financial guarantee. The conditional use permit acts like a conceptual approval. Brad Blanche is here tonight and staff sat down with him a little while ago and discussed this issue. He has a piece of property in the western county area that he would like to develop. Mr. Mendoza indicated that the minimum width open space in the cluster subdivision code is 75 ft. and requires that there be at least 3 lots in a cluster but no more than 20 lots. Mr. Blanche's PRUD concept shows larger, less chopped up, open spaces. The open spaces are larger and more useable.

Brad Blanche stated that when they looked at the cluster ordinance, they found it was restrictive and they were trying to figure out how they would get 20 lots surrounded by 75 ft. of open space and they also wondered what they would do with that space. They wanted to honor the agricultural environment in the area that this property is in, but with 75 ft. swathes, it almost makes it impossible to utilize the ground for the cluster concept. He believes the PRUD concept would allow them to provide a development with useful open space such as a park and it wouldn't be as restrictive as the cluster subdivision requirements. They drew up a proposal of what they wanted the PRUD to look like as far as large open space

parcels that allows useful open space. Their design is designed with 50% open space bonus density. Mr. Blanche indicated that the project would not be financially viable using only a 10% open space bonus density and he believes it would not be a design that anyone would want.

Commissioner Heslop visited the agri-topia area at the National Conference. There were (450 units, 2 restaurants, a retirement home and a private school, etc. in that development). He was excited about this project and revisited the area after the conference was over. He understood that they asked for an exemption so that they could set up some things within their community. Their property line starts at the curb, but the front yards are managed by a HOA so there is uniform maintenance. The sidewalks are on private property but have public access. He was very impressed. There was a range and variety of houses and sizes of house. There were no fences around the houses except around a swimming pool. Every house has to have a front porch with tree lined streets. Initially, when they started selling them they were in a housing boom, and then they went through a bust; now they are getting to where they have the people who want to be there. They are working on a community garden area where they have the year-round capability of growing vegetables with the climate that is there. He was impressed that the chickens ran through the orchards. They are going to put in a bunch of apartments and it is literally a lifetime community.

Scott Mendoza stated that a lot of their conversation was what lots could be marketed and it was really about aging in place. Instead of coming in to be exempt from the county's rules, they have the ability to come in as a PRUD and based on the concept of the information submitted to them, they have the ability to relax the rules and allow them to build something similar to agri-topia.

Brad Blanche stated that his concept would not take in anywhere near the density of what agri-topia has. He would love to do something a little different that is more agriculture oriented than what the current PRUD Ordinance allows them to do. The 50% bonus gets them closer, but today they couldn't do it. Scott Mendoza stated that they even spoke about neighborhood-scale commercial.

Ronda Kippen stated that the PRUD plans could be anywhere from the starter homes to the midlife home to the end of life residence.

Brad Blanche stated that on his property there is a significant amount of water available but they are trying to think environmentally also so that excess water could be used elsewhere.

Commissioner Andreotti indicated that in his mind he doesn't believe that the cluster subdivision is sustainable. He believes that there should be a certain element in landscaping to make it pleasing. He envisions a place where people want to come and that's the thing he likes about the PRUD because in his mind it is more sustainable especially if it has other amenities, but it is more expensive. He would like to see Mr. Blanche bring in the amenities and things that people would like to see there and so they would be able to stay in the area no matter what the stage of life someone is in.

Commissioner Borklund stated that you could have a clubhouse, pools, etc. or other things as an amenity. Commissioner Andreotti stated that to him, they want to have places where people want to be to see if there is some way of making it a place where people want to gather.

Scott Mendoza stated that they have had CSA's, Community supported agriculture. There is a new thing called a, DSA Density Supported Agriculture. In a PRUD, they can create plaza areas where people could gather. If staff has the Planning Commission's blessing, they could move forward further addressing this.

Commissioner Heslop indicated that personally, he believes they need to proceed with it. He believes people want community and feel like they belong. In the Agri-topia project in Arizona, they produce more than the local people can purchase. They contribute harvested vegetables, and other product to community baskets. It was an interesting concept to witness on the 150-acre development. The majority of the housing has secondary housing or businesses but they will

not allow an automotive repair shop due to the noise generated. Almost any other business other than an automotive repair shop is allowed.

Commissioner Borklund stated that she would agree they should move forward exploring the idea.

Commissioner Greenwell asked if a coffee shop or bakery would be allowed on the open space or would they have to come in and take up one of the lots. Scott Mendoza indicated that they would be on parcels within the subdivision. They may even have work space below and living space above.

Ronda Kippen indicated that for the smaller PRUD's, it would not fit, but for Mr. Blanche's concept it would.

Brad Blanche indicated that with an organic farm, you wouldn't want a lot of property, probably a 10-12 acre parcel of property. The goal would be to have 10-30 acres of organic farming in his concept. It is a unique property but there are no old farm houses there; however, with the work that has been done on the Weber River, he believes it makes it a unique and a good candidate for this type of development. There is a large property where they don't have water. He would like to maximize the water available and be environmentally friendly. His brother in law is a landscape architect in Oregon and has turned him onto some ideas he would like to explore. If they got 50% bonus in clustering, what is wrong with having 50% in PRUD's? The Commissioners expressed that they believe they should start at 50%. They should see what qualifies for greenbelt and that may alleviate the smaller lots from this. Mr. Blanche indicated that he would like to begin dialogue with them.

Commissioner Heslop stated that in Agri-topia, they plant alfalfa under their citrus trees and they have a portable chicken coop so that the manure doesn't concentrate in one area. They move their water containers as well. Ronda Kippen stated that that would probably keep the bugs down and control the use of pesticides.

Brad Blanche indicated that there is the concept in Ohio (a 300 acre development) that is becoming a trendy thing right now.

3. Remarks from Planning Commissioners

Commissioner Heslop expressed his thanks for the county sending him to the National Conference. There were several work sessions that were excellent. He could present his findings at a meeting where there is a small agenda.

4. Planning Director Report

On the May 24^{th,} there is a combined Training Session with Brent Bateman to begin at 5:00 p.m.

Rick Grover stated that he appreciated the members working with staff and being willing to meet in the break-out room with the County Commission meeting being held in the County Commission Chambers.

5. Remarks from Legal Counsel - None

6. Adjourn

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned.

Respectfully Submitted,

Sherri Sillitoe, Secretary Weber County Planning Commission